FILED

MAY 05, 2014

Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington No. 31845-1-III Spokane County Superior Court No. 12-1-00424-3

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Plaintiff-Appellee, v.

CLAY DUANE STARBUCK, Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SPOKANE COUNTY

The Honorable Gregory Sypolt, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Suzanne Lee Elliott

Attorney for Appellant 1300 Hoge Building 705 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 623-0291

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. There was insufficient evidence to convict Clay¹ Starbuck in the murder of his ex-wife, Chanin Starbuck.

2. There was insufficient evidence to prove that any person violated Chanin's remains after her death.

3. The trial court deprived Clay of a fair trial when it prohibited him from introducing evidence to show that others may have murdered Chanin, restricted his ability to impeach the State's witnesses and restricted his ability to present evidence of a biased police investigation.

4. The trial court erred when it permitted the introduction of the audio portion of the 911 tape.

5. The prosecutor committed misconduct in closing argument.

II. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Where the evidence demonstrated that Chanin could not have been murdered on the morning of December 1, 2011, and where Clay's whereabouts and activities were known every minute thereafter, was there sufficient evidence to convict him of murder?

¹ In order to avoid confusion, this brief will use the first names of the many members of the Starbuck family discussed in the statement of the case. No disrespect is intended.

2. Where there was no evidence that anyone violated Chanin's remains, was there sufficient evidence to convict Clay of that act?

3. Did the trial court deprive Clay of a fair trial when it prohibited him from introducing relevant evidence to show that there were at least two other potential suspects in Chanin's murder?

4. Did the trial court violate Clay's right to a fair trial, including the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses, when the trial court prohibited Clay from introducing all of the text messages between another suspect and Chanin?

5. Did the trial court violate Clay's right to a fair trial, to present a defense and to cross-examine witnesses when it prevented Clay from fully exposing the investigators' failure to undertake a competent and thorough investigation?

6. Where the State presented evidence suggesting that Clay was dishonest in describing Chanin's sexual activities, did the trial court violate Clay's right to present a defense and to cross-examine the witnesses against him when it prohibited Clay from rebutting the State's evidence?

7. Did the trial court err in admitting the audio portion of the 911 tape when there was no identification of the caller and no discernable communication on the tape?

8. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct in closing argument when he argued facts he knew to be untrue in regard to the DNA evidence?

9. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct in closing argument when he argued that Clay falsely told others that Chanin was sexually promiscuous when the State knew Clay's statements were true?

10. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct when for the first time in closing argument he argued a new theory that Clay did not act alone in murdering Chanin?

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Chanin Starbuck was found dead in her Deer Park home on December 3, 2011 at about 9:11 a.m. RP 946. The State's theory is that Clay Starbuck, her ex-husband, used a ruse to get her out of the house at 8:00 a.m. on December 1, 2011. RP 875-76, 2691. While she was out, he broke in and lay in wait. RP 2692. When she returned, he beat her to death between 9:15 a.m. and 9:20 a.m. RP 96. The police "believed" that after 9:30 a.m., Clay remained in Chanin's house and used her phone to respond to two sexual partners and the couple's children in order to hide the fact that he was in Chanin's house and had murdered her. CP 26. The State believed that Clay's motives in killing his ex-wife were "greed, anger, obsession and jealousy." RP 2682. *See also* RP 99-102. The defense evidence was that someone else murdered Chanin. But, because the police almost instantly assumed Clay did it, they did very little to test the wealth of forensic evidence found at the scene that implicated others. And they ignored the facts that made the State's theory impossible.

On December 3 at 11:40 a.m., Detective Mark Renz spoke briefly with Clay. Despite the fact that police had yet to process one single piece of evidence at the scene or speak to any other person or even conclude that a homicide had been committed, Detective Renz opined that because Clay gave him information about his ex-wife's lifestyle, he was "trying to lead us in a different direction." ² RP 1005. As it turns out, Clay's statements were entirely truthful.

Detective Renz immediately shared his conclusions with lead Detective Michael Ricketts. RP 1006. By December 6, 2011, Ricketts, convinced that Clay was the murderer, told the Washington State Crime lab to test Chanin's cell phone for DNA evidence because he already believed that the "suspect" had used the phone to "text his alibi." RP 2483-84. And he deliberately limited the forensic testing of a myriad of other items seized at the scene.

² Similarly, at 11:03 a.m. on December 3, 2011, Detective James Dresback was informed that Clay was a "person of interest." RP 1086.

This bias – in favor of naming Clay as Chanin's murderer – infected the rest of the police investigation and led to a conviction that is not supported by the evidence and is the product of prosecutorial misconduct and a denial of Clay's state and federal constitutional rights to present a defense.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On February 9, 2012, Clay D. Starbuck was charged with aggravated premeditated murder in the first degree with aggravating circumstances in violation of RCW 9A.32.030, and sexually violating human remains. RCW 9A.44.105. CP 14-15. The jury convicted him as charged. CP 785-790.³ The trial judge sentenced him to life in prison without the possibility of parole. CP 904-914.

B. FACTS

Clay and Chanin Starbuck married, divorced, remarried and divorced again. They had four children together: Austin, Blake, Sutton and Loghan. Between the marriages, Chanin became pregnant by another man. Nonetheless, Clay embraced that child, Marshall, as his own. The

³ The jury also found that the murder was committed with "deliberate cruelty," although this finding was superfluous and had no effect on the sentence imposed.

couple lived together at 509 North Reiper in Deer Park from May 2008 until June 7, 2009. RP 2584, 2602. Clay moved to Alaska for a time and then returned to Deer Park and lived in a house about half a mile away from Chanin. RP 2549.

The second divorce was finalized in July 2011. RP 2539. In December 2011, Chanin had primary residential custody of the minor children. *Id.* The children stayed with Clay every other weekend. They also stayed with him every Wednesday after school. Clay also picked up the three school aged children every morning and drove them to school. RP 2540.

Clay, who had been working in Alaska, suffered a significant back injury and was on sick leave beginning in February, 2011. RP 2497-98, 3540. He underwent invasive surgery on July 18, 2011. RP 2487. As a result, he fell behind on his child support obligations. RP 2586. On October 28, 2011, he was ordered to pay Chanin \$9,600 in back child support and attorney fees. RP 2585-86; Exhibit 445.

His back pain was such that in December 2011 he was not sleeping well. He was up at night until midnight or 1:00 a.m. RP 2542. He would get up and take the kids to school about 8:00 a.m. RP 2543. Then he would come home and go back to sleep until noon. *Id*.

C. THE EVENTS OF DECEMBER 1, 2011

On December 1, 2011, Clay was driving a 1988 two-door Toyota Tercel. RP 2544. He got up a little after 7:00 a.m. and started out to pick up the children but his car died en route. RP 2553. He texted the children about getting ready for school at 7:11, 7:14, 7:52 and 7:53 a.m. *See* RP 2341-2342. At 7:54 a.m. he texted his daughter Loghan and said: "Is mom up, car is acting up." RP 2342. At 8:06 a.m., Clay texted Chanin and said: "Car quit. Can you take the kids?" RP 2342. At 8:08 a.m., Chanin texted back: "K." RP 2343, 2554.

Clay then walked home and went back to bed. RP 2556. He did not recall exactly how long he slept that day. *Id*. Clay plugged his cell phone into the car charger because the phone was out of power. RP 2562-63, 2605-06.

Chanin was awake because at 8:06 a.m. she began texting with her two sexual partners, Tom Walker and John Kenlein (who was masquerading as John Wilson). She continued to text with these two men throughout the morning and early afternoon of December 1. She took the children to school at about 8:00 a.m. RP 1423. And, unbeknownst to anyone at the time, Chanin's phone called 911 at 9:17 a.m. This was a hang-up call. When the 911 operator returned the call, there was no answer. RP 1452-1464.

Tom Walker was asked if he was dating Chanin in November and December 2011. He answered: "If that's what you want to call it." RP 1474. He knew Chanin for about three weeks before her death. *Id.* He and Chanin arranged to have dinner at Walker's house on Monday, December 5, 2011.

Walker and Chanin sent several messages to each other in the hour between 8:00 and 9:00 a.m. on December 1, 2011. At 8:06 a.m. Walker texted Chanin, "Good morning sexy." CP 494. At 8:20 Chanin texted to Walker: "Good morning handsome." *Id.* At 8:29, Walker texted to Chanin: "I'm looking back at our texts and I think that you should send me a picture of your vibrator in your pussy. Sorry.... But you made me think of it." CP 495. Chanin responded at 8:38 and said: "I so want your cock in me right now." CP 593. Walker texted at 8:42: "Me too. I want to fell [sic] your set [sic] pussy around my cock and your mouth sliding down it too. Damn... You make me so friggin horny." *Id.* He sent two more texts: "Wet no Set [sic] ;)" at 8:42 a.m. *Id.* Finally, at 8:47 he texted: "I have to tell you I really like blow jobs. I hope you like oral back." *Id.*

On December 1, Walker did not go to work in the morning. He went to a funeral at 9:40 a.m. and was there until "real close to 10:30." RP 1476. He said that he went "directly back to work" after the funeral.

However, he continued texting with Chanin. At 10:49 a.m. he texted Chanin to see "how her day was going." RP 1478. He said: "I just got done going to the funeral, how about yours, what do you have doing [sic] on today." RP 1778; Ex. 269-C. Chanin responded at 12:10 p.m.: "I had to leave to stop by the bank. Can you meet me at the Onion for lunch at 1:00?" RP 1479; Ex. 271-C. Walker texted back at 12:12 p.m.: "No I wish I could. I had to leave work to go to a funeral so that was my lunch." RP 1481; Ex. 272-C. At 12:19 p.m., Chanin again asked Walker if he was on his way to the Onion. RP 2345. At 12:26 p.m., Walker texted Chanin and said: "No I'm back at work from the funeral." RP 2345. At 12:45 p.m. Walker texted Chanin and said: "I wish I could meet you. Is [sic] like a few kisses to get me by till Monday." RP 1482; Ex. 284 B. Chanin sent another text at 2:19 p.m. regarding the Onion restaurant. RP 1484; Ex. 275B.

John Kenlein testified that he met Chanin via a dating website in September 2011. RP 1492. Prior to December 1, 2011, they met six times, twice during the day and four times at night, to have sex at Chanin's home. RP 1525. He had arranged to get together with Chanin on the morning of December 1, 2011 at 10:30 am. He took the day off from work in order to make this date. RP 1493. Kenlein used the name "John Wilson" when communicating with Chanin. His screen name was "Just

Wondering?" RP 1527. On the dating website Kenlein represented that he was single, but he was married with children. *Id.* Kenlein, a Spokane school teacher, stated that he never wanted his relationship with Chanin to become public or to become an "actual dating relationship." RP 1533.

Kenlein dropped his kids at school at 9:20 a.m. RP 1494. Kenlein testified that he stopped at a Starbucks Coffee at 9:45 a.m. *Id.* At 10:00 a.m., he stopped by the Whitworth library and tried to contact Chanin. RP 1542. He said that he proceeded to Chanin's house, stopping once to go to the bathroom at a McDonald's restaurant. RP 1495. He estimated he arrived at Chanin's home at 10:20 am. He knocked and got no response so he left and went to a payphone and called Chanin. There was no answer so he returned to her home and walked around to see if he saw anyone. RP 1497-98.

When he received no response at the house, Kenlein went to the Deer Park Public Library and tried to email Chanin. He estimated that by this time it was about 10:30 am. RP 1498. Kenlein testified that he drove back to Whitworth library and again tried to email Chanin. RP 1499.

At 12:37 p.m., Kenlein received a text from Chanin that said: "Eating did you cum by[?]" Ex. 280A. RP 1507-08. Kenlein texted back: "yes . . . will you be home soon? Or no . . ." (Ex. 281A) and: "sorry to have missed you . . . are you headed back to Deer Park?" Ex. 282A.

Chanin responded: "Did you stop by??? Do you[]want to come over tonight[?]" Ex. 283. At 12:46 p.m. Kenlein texted back: "Yes, to later tonight . . . or are you headed home now?" RP 1511; Ex. 285A. He then said: "Yes I will see you tonight at 10:30-10:45ish." Ex. 287A. Chanin texted: "No[t] tonight I hav[e] a headache aand [sic] I will have clay take the kids." Ex. 288A. Kenlein responded: "closer to 9:30?" Ex. 289A. At 1:32 p.m. Chanin said: "Nope an[o]ther hour." Ex. 290A. *See also* RP 1482-1516.

When Clay woke back up he tried to start his car again but it was still dead. RP 2557. He returned home shortly after noon. *Id.* He ate and played on an X-Box. RP 2559.

At 2:45 p.m., Loghan texted her mother asking who was going to pick her up from school. Ex. 292A. Chanin texted back: "Dad. I have a headache, stay there." RP 2347. Loghan texted again at 3:05 and said she was cold. Ex. 295A. Chanin returned the text at 3:06 and said: "Send [M]arsh a note dad will be there in 10 Minutes." Ex. 296A. Loghan sent two more texts to her mother that went unanswered. RP 2348. Finally, she called her brother Austin who picked up Loghan and Marshall and took them to Clay's house. RP 2348. Austin picked the children up just after 3:00 p.m. RP 1413.

Because Clay thought Chanin was picking up the children from school, he went back to try and fix the car to get it started. RP 2561. He was successful in doing so. *Id*. After he started the car, he drove straight home. RP 2564. At 3:28 p.m. he texted Chanin that Austin had picked up Loghan and Marshall at school and they were at his house. RP 1072.

At 5:45 p.m. Clay texted Chanin and said: "We are [going] to the game now. If you feel better, call me, and I'll meet you at the booths so you don't have to pay." RP 1072. Then Clay, Marshall and Sutton returned to the school to see Blake's basketball game. RP 2568. At 9:06 p.m. Clay texted Chanin: "Loghan is pissed and we didn't see your [sic] at the game. You should be involved in your child's activities." RP 1072.

After the game Clay and the children went to Chanin's house but the door was locked and there was no answer. RP 2570. They walked around and saw no one so they headed back to Clay's house so the children could go to bed. RP 2570.

At 7:22 p.m. Kenlein surreptitiously used a phone at his daughter's school to try to call Chanin. RP 1522. He received no answer. Nonetheless, at 9:45 p.m., he left home and went to Chanin's house. He could hear the heat running. He repeatedly knocked, but there was no answer. He also testified that he tried the doorknob. RP 1523.

At 11:57 p.m. Kenlein bought a cleaning product, Drain Pro Gel, at a Spokane area Walmart. RP 2196.

Kenlein never contacted the police when Chanin's murder was reported. RP 2187. He refused to meet with officers until they threatened to tell the public about his involvement in the case. RP 2188.

D. THE EVENTS OF DECEMBER 2, 2011

On December 2, 2011, Clay's three youngest kids did not go to school because they did not have fresh clothes. RP 2571.

At 5:00 p.m. the police received a call from Chanin's mother (who was in Florida) asking them to check on Chanin because she had not heard from her. RP 1757. Deputy Dutton and another officer went to Chanin's house at 6:15 p.m. They checked all the doors and windows and there was no indication of foul play so, after 10 minutes, they left. RP 1758. Dutton proceeded to Clay's house to see if he had any information. Clay was on the phone with the police when Dutton arrived. Clay said he did not know where Chanin was and showed Dutton his phone and text messages. RP 1760. He also told Dutton that Chanin was engaging in online dating and sending nude photos to men over the internet. RP 1761-62.

At 11:42 p.m. Clay called Dutton to see if he had located Chanin because he was concerned. RP 1766, 2204. He was also concerned because the children needed fresh clothes. *Id*.

E. THE EVENTS OF DECEMBER 3-6, 2011

On the morning of December 3, 2011, there was another call for a welfare check from one of Chanin's friends, Doug Carter. RP 946-47. At 9:11 a.m. the police finally entered the home and found Chanin dead on her bed. There was no sign of forced entry, although there were at least two unsecured windows in the home. RP 950, 975. She was naked on her back with a dildo in her vagina and a massager placed on her stomach. RP 949-51. Her phone was on the nightstand beside her bed. RP 951, 978-79.

Soon thereafter many police officers, the medical examiner, and forensic specialists arrived and began collecting and preserving evidence. At 11:03 a.m. Detective Dresbeck named Clay a "person-of-interest" in the case. RP 1086. The police forensic examiners took more than 100 pictures of the house. RP 1229. They attempted many, many fingerprint lifts. Latent prints were actually recovered from the bathroom mirror, the bathroom sink, the bathroom sink faucet handle, the top of the dryer, the dryer door and the interior of the front door. RP 1862. In particular, in one of the bathrooms, an observer can clearly see a handprint on the bathroom wall. RP 1301-02; Ex. 63. There were items that appear to have blood on them and those items were swabbed. RP 1305, 1863-64. *See also* Ex. 665-62. The police swabbed the bathroom drain. RP 1881.

The police swabbed the keyboards and mouse pads for Chanin's computer. RP 1914.

In addition to the dildo found inside Chanin, the police seized other sexual devices. RP 1314. The police seized bedding, towels, a washcloth and a mattress pad that had a large stain on it. RP 1778, 2200.

At about noon Blake called Clay and told him about the police activity at Chanin's home. Clay drove to the home and asked Detective Renz what was happening. RP 2576. He showed Renz his phone with various text messages. RP 996, 100-02. Renz said "my perception he was probing me for information of what we were doing at the residence and any details referencing the investigation." RP 997. He also opined: "I think he was trying to lead us in a different direction." RP 1005.

Renz sent Clay to speak with other officers. RP 2577. Detective Dresbeck told Clay that Chanin was dead. RP 1067, 2577. Clay was shocked. RP 1068, 2577. Clay spoke freely and gave Dresbeck his phone and text messages to look at. RP 1069-71. Dresbeck asked Clay what he thought might have happened. RP 1073. Dresbeck wrote down the texts. RP 1101. He testified that he wanted Clay to "give me all the information he's got." RP 1096. Clay told Dresbeck to get Chanin's laptop because "that will tell you everything you need to know." RP 1073. Clay then told Dresbeck that Chanin had a history of engaging in phone sex, on-line

dating, sexual encounters and "sex stuff." RP 1073-74. The children gave him some of this information. RP 1074.⁴ He also said that Chanin left the children with him on Mother's Day so that she could go on a date. *Id*.

Dresbeck asked Clay the names of the men Chanin had been dating. Clay said that he did not know the men. RP 1074. He had observed her with a man at her home. *Id.* Dresbeck asked Clay if Chanin ever expressed an interest in "autoerotic asphyxiation." RP 1078. Clay did not know what that was but after Dresbeck explained, Clay said that she had never expressed any interest. *Id.* By the end of the conversation Dresbeck felt Clay was "telegraphing" the crime scene to him because he mentioned dildos when discussing his wife. RP 1105, 1107.

One officer was detailed to canvas the neighbors to see if anyone had seen anything suspicious. He went to 40 homes but there was no answer at 19. Of the remaining homeowners he spoke with, 13 saw nothing. No further efforts were ever made to talk to the neighbors. RP 1030.

Later on December 3, 2011, Dr. Sally Aiken performed Chanin's autopsy. RP 1664. Chanin weighed 169 pounds. RP 1729. Dr. Aiken stated that Chanin had been moved post-mortem, but that it would have

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