FILED

JUL 23, 2014

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

31845-1-III

COURT OF APPEALS

DIVISION III

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

CLAY DUANE STARBUCK, APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

OF SPOKANE COUNTY

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

STEVEN J. TUCKER Prosecuting Attorney

Mark E. Lindsey Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

County-City Public Safety Building West 1100 Mallon Spokane, Washington 99260 (509) 477-3662

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

D. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SET THE RELEVANCE AND MATERIALITY BOUNDARIES WITH RESPECT TO THE IMPEACHMENT OF WITNESSES.

Appellant/defendant claims that the trial court abused its discretion by limiting the admission of the content of some texts between victim and another individual on the date of offense. As noted, the trial court based its pre-trial rulings regarding other suspects evidence upon an evaluation of the relevance and materiality of that evidence, including the texts. The defense argued that the content of those texts demonstrated that the defendant was not lying when he told people that Ms. Starbuck was engaged in a risky lifestyle. As noted, the defense simply did not proffer evidence sufficient to make the salacious content of some of those texts relevant. Such evidence neither established a motive for those named other suspects to kill Ms. Starbuck nor negated the fact that defendant's DNA was found on her body at the points which corresponded to the means of death identified by the Medical Examiner. The right to present a defense is not absolute as "a criminal defendant has no constitutional right to have irrelevant evidence admitted in his or her defense." State v. Maupin, 128 Wn.2d 918, 924-925, 913 P.2d 808 (1996) (citing State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 15, 659 P.2d 514 (1983)). Here, the trial court properly exercised its discretion in admitting the fact that the texts occurred while limiting the admission of the salacious contents thereof.

The fact of the texts was the relevant and material evidence which permitted the defense to argue their case theory that there were others who could have committed the murder. The admission of the salacious content of those same texts would not have increased their relevance or materiality because such would not have overcome the fact that defendant's DNA was found on Ms. Starbuck, yet not the DNA of the named other suspects.

The trial court properly exercised its discretion in delineating that the fact of the texts was relevant and admissible, yet the content added nothing other than to demean the victim's character. As noted, the Sheriff's Office tracked down and confirmed the alibis for every named suspect. Mr. Walker was never in Deer Park, Washington, on December 1, 2011, as confirmed by his employer and his cellular telephone log. In fact, Mr. Walker did not even leave his work until about 9:40 a.m., which is several minutes after the 911 call from the victim. RP 1476. The Sheriff's Office tracked down the texts, emails, and instant messages that Mr. Kenlein sent to the victim on December 1, 2011, and confirmed that the "IP addresses" of the computers he used matched his alibi. Mr. Broadhurst and Drew Starbuck were both confirmed to have been at work on December 1, 2011. Applying the Supreme Court's analysis employed in *State v. Franklin, supra*, the trial court properly limited the proffered evidence because it lacked relevance, materiality,

and was more prejudicial than probative. The defense simply did not establish a motive for any of the named suspects to kill Ms. Starbuck and the DNA evidence excluded each of the named other suspects specifically, yet was a "match" to the defendant's DNA. The record reflects that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in ruling on the admissibility of the other suspects evidence.

E. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SET THE RELEVANCE AND MATERIALITY BOUNDARIES WITH RESPECT TO THE CLAIM OF A BIASED POLICE INVESTIGATION.

Appellant/defendant claims that the trial court violated his right to present a defense when it prevented him from fully exposing the Sheriff Office's failure to complete a thorough investigation.

As previously noted, a defendant has the constitutional right to present a defense. *State v. Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d 1, 14, 659 P.2d 514 (1983). A defendant's right to present a defense is not unlimited and must conform to "established rules of procedure and evidence designed to assure both fairness and reliability in the ascertainment of guilt or innocence." *State v. Finch*, 137 Wn.2d 792, 825, 975 P.2d 967 (1999). Nevertheless, a defendant has no constitutional right to present inadmissible evidence. *State v. Hudlow, supra*, at 15.

Here, appellant contends that the court prohibited the defense from offering sexually explicit texts between the victim and other men which

proved her risky lifestyle that resulted in her murder. Appellant also argues that the court's limiting of the other suspect evidence prevented the defense from exposing the inadequacy of the Sheriff Office's investigation. The defense argued to the jury that there were items of evidence that were specifically not tested for DNA and fingerprints. On appeal, appellant argues that it was unfair for the State to argue that DNA evidence excluded all other suspects while forbidding the defense from pointing out that many other suspects might have been identified if all the biological evidence had been tested. App. Brf., p. 57. The record reflects that Washington State Patrol Crime Lab Supervising DNA Scientist Lorraine Heath testified that:

So, on the vaginal swabs, a trace Y-STR DNA typing profile was obtained ... suitable for *exclusions only*, and all the referenced samples ... the donors were excluded as the contributor.

RP 2408 (emphasis added).

This is the same vaginal swab from which the Crime Lab was able to detect the presence of only *one* spermatozoon which was the basis for the lab to report that it had found semen, yet insufficient to detect male-DNA. RP 2427.

The record reflects that the jury was fully advised of the decisionmaking process regarding which items to test and what tests to perform based upon the nature of the subject items. RP 2431-2432. Washington State Patrol Crime Lab Scientist Heath testified that the process of determining which items of evidence to test is a decision not exclusively within the province of the investigating agency. RP 2431-2432. Rather, the process includes the input and discussion of the investigating agency and that of the scientific experts who test such evidence, the Washington State Patrol Crime Lab. RP 2431-2432. Here, the results of the investigation identified several named suspects — Mr. Walker, Mr. Kenlein, Mr. Broadhurst, Drew Starbuck, Austin Starbuck, and the defendant.

Based upon the identification of those individuals, the Sheriff's Office tracked down the evidence to confirm their respective alibis. The investigation confirmed the alibis of all the identified suspects except that of the defendant. The Sheriff's Office afforded the defendant on multiple opportunities to confirm his alibi for December 1, 2011, yet the evidence simply was not there. It was only after the Sheriff's Office could not confirm the defendant's alibi and his DNA was found on the victim that he was formally charged with the aggravated murder of Chanin Starbuck.

Throughout the trial, the defense focused the jury on what items of evidence the Sheriff's Office did not collect or have tested. The defense focused the jury on the activities of the other name suspects,

Mr. Walker and Mr. Kenlein. The defense extensively cross-examined Mr. Walker and Mr. Kenlein about the nature of their relationships with Ms. Starbuck. The cross-examination of the "other suspects" included the facts that they met online and that relationships were exclusively sexual in nature. The addition of sexually explicit texts would have been, at best, cumulative since the authors of those texts admitted the nature of their relationships with the victim. The defense created a trial record sufficient for the jury to accept its case theory, yet the jury applied the law to the evidence and found the defense theory wanting. In the final analysis, the defense could not negate the fact that Mr. Starbuck's DNA was found on the deceased victim's body. The defendant's DNA was a "match" to the DNA found on Chanin Starbuck's neck where the Medical Examiner concluded that the manner of homicide had been perpetrated. The trial court's rulings and the record establish that the defendant was not deprived of the right to present a defense.

F. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE THE AUDIO PORTION OF THE 911 CALL FROM THE VICTIM'S CELLULAR TELEPHONE.

Appellant claims that the admission of the audio portion of the 911 call from Chanin Starbuck violated his constitutional confrontational right under *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004). It is noteworthy that the record does not reflect that the

defense ever raised a claim that the admission of the 911 call would violate his confrontation rights. On appeal, appellant contends that the 911 call was a testimonial statement of a witness absent from trial. Actually, the record shows that the discussion of the character of the 911 call was quite involved and detailed. Initially, the defense advised the court that he was going to reserve argument with regard to the 911 call for trial. RP 78. Then the defense used the fact of the 911 call to support its argument for the introduction of other suspects evidence, including that "a jury ... needs to hear that minutes before 911 call ... Tom Walker requested a photo of the exact position of the sexual device." RP 107-108. The defense used the fact of the 911 call during its examination of Sheriff's Deputies Shover, Trautman, and Dutton to have them acknowledge they would have been more thorough in the first welfare check on the victim had they known about the 911 call. RP 953, 963, 1764. The trial court carefully scrutinized the call with reference to the applicable evidentiary rules, the law, and argument of the parties to conclude that audio portion of the 911 call would be excluded. RP 1603-1607.

It was only after the defense extensively cross-examined the Medical Examiner regarding her opinion, the date and time of death became very relevant in light of the alibis of all the identified suspects, including the defendant. The defense's extensive examination of several witnesses regarding their activities on December 1, 2011, made the date and time of death a focal point for resolving the case. It was only after the defense had made the date and time of death such a focal point that the probative value of the audio portion of the 911 call outweighed its potential prejudicial effect.

The State asked the trial court to reconsider its ruling regarding the admissibility of the audio portion of the 911 call only after the defense had made the date and time of death such a pivotal issue. At that point of the trial, the existence of the 911 call and the time it was received by the Spokane 911 Center had already been admitted. The trial court was advised by both counsel that anticipated evidence would include that the 911 call came from the victim's phone, pinging off the cell-tower near her house at 9:18 a.m. on December 1, 2011. RP 2032-2036. The trial court incorporated its earlier statements regarding whether the utterance was a statement, then summed up its analysis as follows:

the sound ... heard on the 911 call is not distinguishable as language, nor does it display or depict any sort of intent on the part of the person making the call, i.e. Ms. Starbuck, what she may have been intending to assert and thus this utterance falls outside the Hearsay rule. That being the case, the analysis ... goes to the question that involves ER 403 and 401 and 402 ... whether ... the utterance itself and recording of it engenders unfair prejudice such that it should be excluded. ... [T]he court does not believe there is

an implication of *Crawford* or *Davis* ... in reference to violation of the right to confrontation. ... [W]ithout doubt this call was not testimonial and thus wouldn't be indicated.

. . .

[B]rings the court to the point of whether ... based on questioning of Dr. Aiken and her testimony, has there been a change in the relevance vs. prejudicial content of the 911 call. ... Dr. Aiken testified ... as to the cause of death ... the manner of death. She did opine that the death could have occurred on December 1, 2011, and indeed there was a significant cross-examination of Dr. Aiken with a view towards ... expanding the range of time within which the victim could have died beyond what the initial expert opinion of Dr. Aiken was ... am also mindful of rules related to whether ... unfair prejudice results from introduction of evidence, and not only inflammatory evidence may cause undue prejudice but giving undue importance to certain evidence may also have the same result ... I'm aware that that aspect is present here insofar as it needs to be recognized for the court to conduct an appropriate balancing. The State's case ... is not limited ... to simply the elements of the offense charged in count one. There are other points the State seeks to prove ... that there was deliberate cruelty and there's ... been testimony when a person has neck compressed and strangulation results ... often there is onset of pneumonia ... may be rapid ... [or] somewhat slower but it consistently happens ... the lapse of time here then becomes significant from the point at which ... victim had her neck compressed to when she developed pneumonia and eventually expired ... deliberate cruelty is one of aggravating factors ... the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt ... there has been rigorous questioning of Dr. Aiken on the time of death and what might have caused that time frame to expand again ... the phone call ... although not definitive, and the utterance within ... time of death, it does provide a marker from which argument can be made either way ... from State ... or defense ... in addition ... there was at least one call to a voicemail and ... texts following that time frame when the call went in to 911 ... the court is also informed there will be evidence that the

location from which the call emanated was the residence Ms. Starbuck in Deer Park.

[I]n terms of the utterance itself ... I don't believe it is gruesome or troubling to the extent that unfair prejudice would result ... it is a brief ... not really definitive of what speaker was trying to communicate ... we know it was a 911 call which is ... commonly associated with an emergency situation ... taking all these things into consideration and observing that both counsel may receive some benefit in being able to argue certain things from the trier of fact hearing the tape ... the court finds ... the admissibility is established. The weight ... is for the trier of fact to determine. ... So, am reconsidering and this is based on the factors outlined here in adequate detail. ... [I] have ... found it's not a statement ... it is an utterance.

RP 2040 - 2044.

This record establishes the depth of analysis the trial court applied to this issue in rendering its ruling. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the audio portion of the 911 call from the victim on December 1, 2011. Further, the admission of the audio portion did not deprive the defendant on any right of confrontation since it was not a statement, merely a sound. The court's instructions to the jury vis-à-vis evidence and argument would enable the jury to accord the sound the proper weight and credibility in the body of evidence. The State's argument regarding what the 911 audio constituted is simply that, argument, to which the jury was instructed to give no weight in rendering its verdicts.

G. THE DEPUTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY DID NOT COMMIT MISCONDUCT DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT TO THE JURY.

Appellant claims that comments made by the prosecutor during closing argument were improper, constituted misconduct, and justify reversal of the verdicts.

"We have consistently held that unless prosecutorial conduct is flagrant and ill-intentioned, and the prejudice resulting therefrom so marked and enduring that corrective instructions or admonitions could not neutralize its effect, any objection to such conduct is waived by failure to make an *adequate timely objection and request a curative instruction*."

State v. Charlton, 90 Wn.2d 657, 144-45, 585 P.2d 142 (1978), (emphasis added). Here, the defendant neither objected to nor requested a curative instruction with regard to any of the claimed prosecutorial misconduct.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that the defendant's failure to object or request a curative instruction did not constitute a waiver of objection to the prosecutor's comments, the focus turns to whether the comments were so flagrant and ill-intentioned that a proper objection from the defendant was unnecessary.

To prevail on an allegation of prosecutorial misconduct, a defendant must show both improper conduct *and* prejudicial effect. *E.g.*, *State v. Pirtle*, 127 Wn.2d 628, 672, 904 P.2d 245 (1995) (citing *State v.*

Furman, 122 Wn.2d 440, 455, 858 P.2d 1092 (1993)). Prejudice is established by demonstrating a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury's verdict. *Pirtle*, *supra* at 672.

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